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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT    
 

 
 
To the Shareholders of Entourage Health Corp. (formerly WeedMD Inc.):  
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Entourage Health Corp. (the "Company"), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company 
incurred a net loss during the year ended December 31, 2021, and, as of that date, the Company had a 
working capital deficiency and an accumulated deficit. As stated in Note 2, these events or conditions, along 
with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
 
Other Matter  
 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on May 29, 2021. 
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Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Ahlan Veerasamy. 

 
 
 

 
  

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants 
May 9, 2022 Licensed Public Accountants 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

 
The management of Entourage Health Corp. (the "Company"), formerly WeedMD Inc., is responsible for 
preparing the consolidated financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management prepares the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The consolidated financial statements are considered by management to 
present fairly the Company's financial position and results of operations. 
 
The management, in fulfilling its responsibilities, has developed and maintains a system of internal 
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that management assets are safeguarded 
from loss or unauthorized use, and that the records are reliable for preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
 
 
 

 
George Scorsis,  
Chief Executive Officer 
May 9, 2022 
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1. Nature of Operations 
 

Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) is the publicly traded parent company of WeedMD 
Rx Inc., a federally licensed producer and distributor of cannabis products for both the medical and 
adult-use markets. The Company owns and operates three facilities: i) indoor facility in Aylmer, Ontario 
(“Aylmer Facility”) which specializes in cannabis extraction and processing, ii) greenhouses, outdoor 
licensed production space located in Strathroy, Ontario. iii) Operates an indoor micro-propagation 
facility in Guelph, Ontario which specializes in tissue culture, genetics remediation and plant-cell growth 
in a clean, data-driven environment (“Guelph Facility”).  

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021, are 
comprised of Entourage Health Corp. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: Entourage Brands Corp. 
(formerly WeedMD RX Inc.), 2686912 Ontario Limited, 2686913 Ontario Inc., CannTx Life Sciences 
Inc. (“CannTx” was acquired on October 29, 2021), 2690870 Ontario Inc (Dormant), Pioneer Cannabis 
Corp. (“Pioneer”) (51% ownership- dormant Company with no assets and liabilities) and Starseed 
Holdings Inc. and North Star Wellness Inc. (collectively, “Entourage” or the “Company”).  

 

Entourage Health Corp., is a publicly listed company on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) that 
trades under the ticker symbol “ENTG-V”. Entourage Health Corp., is also listed on the OTCQX under 
the ticker symbol “ETRGF” and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “4WE”. The 
registered and head office of the Company is located at 276 Queen Street West, Suite 200, Toronto, 
Ontario M5V 2A1. 

 

Through the acquisition of Starseed Medicinal Inc. (“SMI”) in 2019, the Company acquired licensed 
production area and office space at the Bowmanville Facility. In the first quarter of 2021, the 
Company reallocated all medical packaging, labelling and distribution activities from the Bowmanville 
Facility to the Aylmer Facility, which also houses the Company’s extraction hub. SMI, including the 
Bowmanville Facility’s leasehold and licence, was subsequently sold in the second quarter of 2021 to 
a third party via a sale of all the shares of SMI.  

 

On July 16, 2021, the Company announced and completed the name change from WeedMD Inc. to 
Entourage Health Corp.  
 

On October 29, 2021 the Company completed the acquisition of CannTx by Entourage (the 
"Acquisition"). Following approval from CannTx shareholders, and satisfaction of other closing 
conditions, the formerly privately owned cannabis cultivator, which operates out of its licensed 
production facility in Guelph, Ontario, is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Entourage. 
 

2. Basis of preparation  
 

a) Statement of compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and their interpretations issued by the 
IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 
 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issue on May 
9, 2022. 

 

b) Basis of presentation 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments and biological assets, which are measured at fair value and inventory 
which is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value, as explained in the accounting 
policies set out in Note 3. Net assets classified as Assets held for sale are measured at the lower 
of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.  
 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the Canadian Dollar, which is also 
the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 



Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
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c) Basis of consolidation 
 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date that control commences until the date control ceases.  
 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealized gains arising from intercompany 
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
 

d) Accounting estimates and judgments 
 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the 
reporting period. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The most significant 
judgments include those related to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, the 
determination that acquisitions meet the definition of a business combination under IFRS 3- 
Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) and identification of intangible assets acquired, the 
determination of when property, plant and equipment are available for use as well as their useful 
lives, determining the lease term under IFRS 16 – Leases (IFRS 16”), the capitalization of 
construction costs, valuation and recoverability of deferred taxes, the determination of whether 
performance obligations have been met for revenue recognition, including bill and hold 
arrangements, impairment of financial and non-financial assets and assessment of assets held for 
sale. 
 

The Company is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties associated with the going concern 
assumption and exercises judgment to assess the uncertainties relating to the determination of the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

The most significant estimates and assumptions include those related to the inputs used in 
accounting for share-based payment transactions, the valuation of warrants, and the conversion 
feature included in convertible debt, including volatility, the fair value of financial instruments, the 
discount rate used to determine the present value of the debt component of convertible debt, the 
impairment tests including weighted average cost of capital, terminal growth rate, projected cash 
flows, assets classified as held for sale including estimated sale price and cost to sell, and the 
valuation of net assets acquired in the Acquisition (Note 4). In calculating the value of the biological 
assets and the net realizable value of inventory (Note 6), management is required to make a 
number of estimates, including estimating the stage of growth of the cannabis up to the point of 
harvest, harvesting costs, selling costs, sales price, wastage and expected yields for the cannabis 
plants. In calculating final inventory values, management is required to determine an estimate of 
spoiled or expired inventory and compares the inventory cost versus net realizable value. The 
Company also exercises judgment in determining the incremental borrowing rate when the interest 
rate is not implicit in the lease. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee 
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, with a similar security, the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.  
Management has determined that judgments, estimates and assumptions reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements are reasonable. 
 

e) COVID-19 Pandemic 
 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak as a 
global health emergency. This resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures 
to combat the spread of the virus, including the closure of non-essential businesses. In Canada, 
the production and sale of cannabis is recognized as an essential service. 
 

 
 



Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, the pandemic did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s operations. COVID-19 has resulted in changes to the way the Company operates, for 
example, the number of employees allowed in a grow room. Consequently, the Company has taken 
steps to minimize any potential impact of the pandemic. These actions include postponement of 
discretionary capital expenditures, reduction of general and administrative expenses, temporary 
staff reductions, and enhanced process optimization to increase efficiencies and reduce costs.  
 

Due to the rapid developments and uncertainty surrounding COVID-19, the challenges continue 
within the cannabis and other industries, and therefore it is not possible to predict the impact that 
COVID-19 will have on certain businesses, financial position, and operating results in the future. In 
addition, it is possible that estimates in the Company’s consolidated financial statements will 
change in the near term as a result of COVID-19 and the effect of any such changes could be 
material, which could result in, among other things, impairment of long-lived assets including 
intangibles. The Company is closely monitoring the impact of the pandemic on all aspects of its 
business. 

 
f) Going concern 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which 
presumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of its operations. As of December 
31, 2021, the Company had a negative working capital of $54,967,354 (December 31, 2020 – 
working capital of $44,574,948) and an accumulated deficit of $196,221,574 (December 31, 2020 
- $117,286,441). The Company used cash in operating activities of $30,007,076 (year ended 
December 31, 2020 - $35,538,706), resulting primarily from the net loss of $78,935,133 (year 
ended December 31, 2020 - $89,607,134) offset by items not affecting cash such as depreciation, 
amortization, and stock-based compensation. The Company has insufficient cash to fund its 
planned capital investments and operations for the next twelve months. The Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to obtain sufficient additional funding and 
to generate sufficient revenues and positive cash flows from its operating activities to meet its 
obligations and fund its planned investments and operations. These conditions indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the 
going concern assumption were not appropriate. Should the Company be unable to generate 
sufficient cash flow from financing and operating activities, the carrying value of the Company’s 
assets could be subject to material adjustments and other adjustments may be necessary to these 
financial statements should such events impair the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

 
3. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a) Cash 
 

Cash comprise cash at banks, in unrestricted trust accounts, and on hand. Restricted cash 
represents the minimum cash balance that the Company must maintain pursuant to the terms of 
the credit agreement with the Financial Institution (Note 12) and as security for Company’s 
corporate credit cards.   
 

b) Property, plant and equipment 
 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment. The Company provides for depreciation using the following methods at rates designed 
to amortize the cost of the plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives.  
 
 



Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
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The annual depreciation rates and methods are as follows: 
 

Building 20 years Straight-line 
Equipment 20% Declining balance 
Fence and signage 10% Declining balance 
Furniture and fixtures 20% Declining balance 
Leasehold improvements including Greenhouse 7-20 years Straight-line 
Security equipment 20% Declining balance 
 
The estimated residual value and useful lives of assets are reviewed by management annually at 
each reporting date and adjusted if necessary. 
 

Borrowing costs and construction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets are capitalized. 
 
Assets are not depreciated until they become available for use, which is when they are in the 
location and condition necessary to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 

c) Intangible assets 
 

Finite-lived intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. The annual amortization rates and methods are as follows: 
 
Software 5 years Straight-line 
Health Canada Licenses Useful life of the building Straight-line 
Customer relationships 7 years Straight-line 
Brands and Trademarks 10 years Straight-line 
Technology 6 years Straight-line 
  

 

The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting year, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment 
and are not amortized. 

 

d) Impairment of long-lived assets 
 

Long-lived assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. The Company tests for impairment whenever indications of impairment exist by 
calculating an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset's fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount 
that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm's length transaction between 
knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable 
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the period. 
 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment 
test is carried out on the cash generating unit (“CGU”). A CGU is the smallest group of assets for 
which there are separate identifiable cash flows. When an impairment loss is identified pertaining 
to the CGU, the impairment loss shall be allocated to first reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the 
varying amount of each asset in the CGU. In allocating impairment loss, the carrying amount of 
each asset should not be reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value 
in use and zero. 
 



Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
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Goodwill is assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date and is tested annually or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 

With the exception of Goodwill, where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount up to the point 
that the amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized immediately in income for the period. 
 
The Company recognized an impairment loss as at December 30, 2020 (refer to Note 9). No further 
impairment was identified as at December 31, 2021.  
 

e) Biological assets 
 
The Company measures biological assets consisting of cannabis plants not yet harvested at fair 
value less costs to sell up to the point of harvest. Seeds included in inventory are recorded at cost 
which was determined to be nil. While the Company’s biological assets are within the scope of IAS 
41 Agriculture, the direct and indirect costs of biological assets are determined using an approach 
similar to the capitalization criteria outlined in IAS 2 Inventories. Production costs related to the 
transformation of biological assets to the point of harvest, which include direct costs such as 
growing materials as well as indirect costs such as utilities and supplies used in the growing process, 
are capitalized. Indirect labour for individuals involved in the growing and quality control process is 
also included, as well as depreciation on production equipment and overhead costs such as rent 
to the extent it is associated with the growing space. All direct and indirect costs of biological assets 
are capitalized as they are incurred. Biological assets are measured at their fair value less costs to 
sell on the consolidated statements of Financial Position. 
 
Agricultural produce consisting of cannabis is measured at fair value less costs to sell at the point 
of harvest, which becomes the basis for the cost of inventory after harvest. Gains or losses arising 
from changes in fair value less costs to sell, excluding capitalized production costs, are included in 
“unrealized loss (gain) on changes in fair value of biological assets” on the consolidated statements 
of Loss and Comprehensive Loss. 
 
When inventory is sold, costs capitalized to biological assets and inventory are expensed through 
“Cost of goods sold” and the fair value adjustment to biological assets included in inventory sold is 
expensed through “Realized fair value amounts included in inventory sold” on the consolidated 
statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss. 

 
f) Inventory 

 
Inventories of harvested cannabis are transferred from biological assets at their fair value less cost 
to sell at the time of harvest, which becomes deemed cost. Any subsequent direct and indirect 
post-harvest costs are capitalized to inventory to the extent that cost is less than net realizable 
value. The direct costs capitalized to inventory subsequent to harvest include materials, and indirect 
costs capitalized include labour and depreciation expense on equipment involved in packaging, 
labelling and inspection, as well as overhead costs such as rent to the extent it is associated with 
the post-harvest production, quality control and storage space. In the case of oil inventory, direct 
costs capitalized to inventory also include costs associated with the extraction process. Inventory 
purchased from other licensed producers is recognized at the price paid on purchase of the 
inventory, plus any subsequent costs capitalized if further processed or packaged. Inventory is 
measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value on the Statements of Financial Position. Net 
realizable value is determined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is 
determined using the average cost basis. 
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g) Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue is recognized when control of the goods has transferred, accepted by the purchaser and 
the collectability is reasonably assured. The point at which control transfers is also when the 
performance obligations have been fulfilled under the terms of the related sales contract. Revenues 
are recorded net of discounts, price concessions, price protection and appropriate deduction for 
actual and expected returns. Excise taxes are a production tax which become payable when a 
cannabis product is delivered to the customer and are not directly related to the value of revenue. 
Excise taxes are netted against gross revenue on the consolidated Statements of Loss and 
Comprehensive Loss. 

 
Unearned revenue is recognized when cash is received from customers before all revenue 
recognition criteria have been met.  
 

h) Share-based compensation 
 

Where equity-settled share payments are awarded to management, employees and consultants, 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant is charged to the Consolidated 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss. Performance vesting conditions are taken into 
account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so 
that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number 
of shares that eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the common 
shares (“Shares”) and/or options granted. The cumulative expense is not adjusted where a 
non-vesting condition is not satisfied. Where the terms and conditions are modified before they 
vest, any increase in the fair value of the Shares, measured immediately before and after the 
modification, is also charged to the Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss.  
 

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the 
goods or services received unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably in which case they 
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Amounts related to the issuance 
of Shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital. If the fair value of the goods or services 
received cannot be estimated reliably, the goods or services received, and the corresponding 
increase in equity are measured, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders service. 

 

i) Foreign currency translation 
 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency 
using exchange rates in effect at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. All exchange gains and 
losses are included in the Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss.  
 

j) Loss per share 
 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss for the year by the weighted average number 
of Shares outstanding. Diluted loss per share is calculated in a similar manner, except that the 
weighted average number of Shares outstanding is increased to include potentially issuable Shares 
from the assumed exercise of Share purchase options and warrants, if dilutive. The diluted loss per 
share calculation excludes any potential conversion of options, warrants, and convertible debt that 
would increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share. 
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k) Compound financial instruments 
 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise units that consist of unsecured 
convertible debentures and share purchase warrants. The liability component of a compound 
financial instrument is recognized initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an 
equity conversion option. The equity component, which consists of the conversion feature related 
to the convertible debentures and the share purchase warrants, is recognized as the difference 
between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the 
liability component.  
 
The equity component is allocated to the conversion feature and the share purchase warrants 
based on their relative fair values. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the 
liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method. The equity component of a compound financial 
instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. Upon conversion, the liability 
component and conversion feature are reclassified to share capital. 
 

In situations where the Company issues warrants, the fair value of warrants as calculated as of the 
date of issue using the Black-Scholes pricing model, or Monte Carlo method for warrants with 
accelerated vesting terns, is included in the Company’s warrant reserve, as reported on the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity. 
 
 

l) Related party transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or 
common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A 
transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or 
obligations between related parties. Related party transactions are measured at the amounts 
agreed upon by the parties. 

 

m) Share issuance costs 
 
Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of share capital are netted against the proceeds 
received net of tax. Costs related to the issuance of share capital and incurred prior to issuance 
are recorded as deferred share issuance costs and subsequently netted against proceeds when 
they are received.  

 

n) Warrants 
 
In situations where the Company issues warrants, the fair value of warrants, as calculated as of 
the date of issue using the Black-Scholes pricing model, or Monte Carlo method for warrants with 
accelerated vesting terms, is included in the Company’s warrants reserve, as reported on the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.  
 

o) Provisions 
 

A provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
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p) Income taxes 
 
Income tax on the Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the periods 
presented is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the Consolidated 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for amendments to 
tax payable with regards to previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the asset and liability method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: 
goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting or taxable income; nor differences relating to investments to the extent that they 
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based 
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each financial reporting period. 

 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income 
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not 
consider it probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance. 
 

q) Financial instruments 
 

The Company accounts for financial instruments according to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 
9), which requires all recognized financial assets to be measured at amortized cost or fair value in 
subsequent accounting periods following initial recognition. IFRS 9 also requires a single, forward-
looking expected loss impairment model. 

 
Classification 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in the following measurement 
categories: (i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); (ii) 
those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) 
(“FVOCI”); and (iii) those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification of financial assets 
depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and whether the contractual cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”). Financial liabilities are classified 
as those to be measured at amortized cost unless they are designated as those to be measured 
subsequently at FVTPL (irrevocable election at the time of recognition). For assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income (loss). Financial liabilities are not reclassified. 

Financial Assets 

Under IFRS 9, financial assets are initially measured at fair value. In the case of a financial asset 
not categorized as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs are included. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in net loss. Subsequent 
classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the Company’s business objective 
for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset: 

Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is 
calculated using the effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign 
exchange and derecognition are recognized in loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
are comprised of trade receivables.   
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Fair value through other comprehensive loss - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows and for selling the financial assets, and for which the contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive loss. 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method and gains or losses arising from 
impairment and foreign exchange are recognized in loss. All other changes in the carrying amount 
of the financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive loss. Upon derecognition, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive loss is reclassified to profit 
or loss. The Company does not hold any financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive loss.    

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured 
at amortized cost, or fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. All interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are 
recognized in loss. Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
comprised of cash.     

Designated at fair value through loss – On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset to be measured at fair value through loss in order to eliminate or 
significantly reduce an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities, or recognizing the gains and losses on them, on different bases. All interest income and 
changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in loss. The Company does not 
hold any financial assets designated to be measured at fair value through loss. Refer to Note 26. 
“Financial Instruments”.      

Business model assessment 

The Company assesses the objective of its business model for holding a financial asset at a level 
of aggregation which best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to 
management. Information considered in this assessment includes stated policies and objectives. 

Contractual cash flow assessment 

The cash flows of financial assets are assessed as to whether they are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the basis of their contractual terms. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair 
value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time 
value of money, the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding, and other basic 
lending risks and costs. In performing this assessment, the Company considers factors that would 
alter the timing and amount of cash flows such as prepayment and extension features, terms that 
might limit the Company’s claim to cash flows, and any features that modify consideration for the 
time value of money. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets  

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire.  

Financial Liabilities 

Recognition and Initial Measurement 

The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities at fair value on the date at which the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, the Company 
measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through 
loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or loss.  
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The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is determined based on their classification as 
either FVTPL or amortized cost.  

FVTPL – Derivative financial instruments that do not meet hedge accounting criteria are classified 
as FVTPL. Gains or losses on these types of financial liabilities are recognized in net loss.  

Amortized cost – All other financial liabilities are classified as amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in net loss through the amortization process as 
well as when the liabilities are derecognized. The Company derecognizes a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 
 

r) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not 
individually identified and separately recognized. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 

s) Impairment of financial assets 
 

Under IFRS 9, the Company is required to apply an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model to all debt 
financial assets not held at FVTPL, where credit losses that are expected to transpire in future 
years are provided for, irrespective of whether a loss event has occurred or not as at the date of 
Statement of Financial Position. For trade receivables, the Company has applied the simplified 
approach under IFRS 9 and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses taking 
into consideration historical credit loss experience and financial factors specific to the debtors and 
general economic conditions.  
 
Evidence of impairment could include:  
 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 
• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 
• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or reorganization. 

 

The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced by any impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of accounts receivable, where the carrying amount is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account. When an account receivable is considered uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed through the Consolidated Statements of Loss and 
Comprehensive Loss for the period to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date 
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognized. 
 

t) Segments 
 

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing 
products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are 
different from those of other segments. Throughout the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, the Company operated in one segment, the production and sale of cannabis 
in Canada. 
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u) Business combinations 
 

Judgement is used in determining whether an acquisition is a business combination or an asset 
acquisition. In determining the allocation of the purchase price in a business combination, estimates 
including market based and appraisal values are used.  
 

The Company measures all assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair 
values. Acquisition-related costs are recognized as expenses in the periods in which the costs are 
incurred and the services are received (except for the costs to issue debt or equity securities which 
are recognized according to specific requirements). The excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred to obtain control over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, is recognized as goodwill as of the 
acquisition date. 

 
v) Government grant 

 
The Company recognises government grants when there is reasonable assurance that the 
Company will comply with the conditions attached to them and the grants will be received. 
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss 
as “Government grant” on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as 
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
 

w) Debt Modification 
 

A substantial debt modification or a debt exchange with substantially different terms is accounted 
for as an extinguishment of the original liability.  
 
The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the 
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original 
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the 
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.  
 
If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, 
any costs or fees incurred are recognized as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the 
exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred 
adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortized over the remaining term of the modified 
liability. 
 

Please see Note 12: Loans and Borrowings, in the notes to the consolidated financial Statements, 
for details regarding the modification of debt. 
 

x) Transaction costs 
 

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, other than financial assets and financial liabilities classified as Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”), are added or deducted from the fair value on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial 
assets and financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized immediately in the consolidated 
statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
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y) Leases  
 

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of a contract. Leases 
are recognized as a right-of-use asset and corresponding liability at the commencement date. Each 
lease payment included in the lease liability is apportioned between the repayment of the liability 
and a finance cost. The finance cost is recognized in net finance costs in the Consolidated 
Statements of Ioss and comprehensive loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), variable 
lease payments that are based on an index or a rate or subject to a fair market value renewal, 
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees, the exercise price 
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments of 
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option. The 
Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the 
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components. The lease liability is net of lease incentives receivable. The lease payments are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be determined, the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. The period over which the lease payments are discounted is 
the reasonably certain lease term, including renewal options that the Company is reasonably 
certain to exercise. Renewal options are included in a number of leases across the Company. 
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as an 
expense on a straight-line basis in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated 
Statements of Ioss and comprehensive loss. 
 

Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate or subject to a fair market value renewal are expensed as 
incurred and recognized in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated 
Statements of Ioss and comprehensive loss. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which is 
calculated as the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability plus any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs and related restoration costs. The 
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and 
the useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the 
cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the 
related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The 
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 
 
Company discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at the inception of the 
lease. The weighted-average discount rate applied was from 5.95% to 15.5% for leases entered 
during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

z) Assets held for sale 
 

The Company classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying 
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly 
attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense. The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly 
probable, and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to 
the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed 
to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed within one year from the date of 
the classification.  
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Property, plant and equipment, ROU assets and license which is part of the intangible assets are 
not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale. Assets and liabilities classified as held 
for sale are presented separately as current items in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. A disposal group qualifies as assets held for sale if it is a component of an entity that is 
classified as held for sale, and is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate 
production facility. Results of the assets held for sale are excluded from the results of continuing 
operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after tax from assets held for sale 
in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Additional disclosures are provided 
in Note 10. 

 
aa) Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) and Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”)  

 
RSUs are equity-settled share-based payments. RSUs are measured at their intrinsic fair value on 
the date of grant based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date prior to the grant, 
and is recognized as share-based compensation expense over the vesting period with a 
corresponding credit to share reserves. Under IFRS, the Company’s DSUs are classified as equity-
settled share-based payment transactions as they are settled in either cash or common shares at 
the sole discretion of the Company. As such, the DSUs are measured in the same manner as 
RSUs.  
 
The amount recognized for services received as consideration for the RSUs and DSUs granted is 
based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. Upon the release of RSUs and 
DSUs, the related share reserve is transferred to share capital. 
 

bb) New and Amended Accounting Pronouncements 
 

Accounting Pronouncements Effective January 1, 2021 
 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and 
IFRS 16 

 
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an 
interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The 
amendments include the following practical expedients: 

 
• A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly 
required by the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement 
in a market rate of interest 
• Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge 
documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued 
• Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement 
when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component 

 
These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The 
Company intends to use the practical expedients in future periods if they become applicable. 

 
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to IFRS 16 

 
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 
Leases. The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease 
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 
pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related 
rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts 
for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same 
way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification. 
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The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic is continuing, on 31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the 
practical expedient to 30 June 2022.The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 April 2021. 

 
However, the Company has not received Covid-19-related rent concessions, but plans to apply the 
practical expedient if it becomes applicable within allowed period of application. 

 
Accounting pronouncements not yet effective 
 
IAS 8: Amendment to IAS 8, Accounting policies vs estimates 
 
The amendments to IAS 8 clarify how companies should distinguish changes in accounting policies 
from changes in accounting estimates. That distinction is important because changes in accounting 
estimates are applied prospectively only to future transactions and other future events, but changes 
in accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to past transactions and other past 
events. 
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, 
with early application permitted. The Company is assessing the potential impact of the amendment. 
 
IAS 12: Amendment to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single 
transaction 
 
In May 2021, the IASB issued targeted amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes to specify how 
companies should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning 
obligations. In specified circumstances, companies are exempt from recognizing deferred tax when 
they recognize assets or liabilities for the first time. Previously, there had been some uncertainty 
about whether the exemption applied to transactions such as leases and decommissioning 
obligations transactions for which companies recognize both an asset and a liability. The 
amendments clarify that the exemption does not apply and that companies are required to recognize 
deferred tax on such transactions. The aim of the amendments is to reduce diversity in the reporting 
of deferred tax on leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments are effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with early application permitted. 
The Company is assessing the potential impact of the amendment. 

 
Amendment of IAS 41, Agriculture 
 
In May 2020, the IASB published annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 cycle, 
containing the following amendments to IFRS. These amendments are effective annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022. IAS 41 Agriculture – The amendment removes the 
requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 for entities to exclude taxation cash flow when measuring 
the fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique. This will ensure consistency 
with the requirements in IFRS 13. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the 
impact that the new and amendment standards will have on its consolidated financial statements or 
whether to early adopt any of the new requirements.  
 
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Package of Narrow-Scope Amendments 
 
In May 2020, the IASB issued the package of narrow-scope amendments to three Standards (IFRS 
3 – Business Combinations, IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment, and IAS 37 – Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets) as well as the IASB’s Annual Improvements 2018-
2020, which are changes that clarify the wording or correct minor consequences, oversights or 
conflicts between requirements in the Standards. These amendments will be effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The implementation of these narrow-scope 
amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company. 
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Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1) 
 
In January 2020, IASB issued Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current, which amends 
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements. The narrow-scope amendments affect only the 
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of its 
recognition. It clarifies that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights 
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period and specifies that classification is unaffected 
by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability. It also 
introduces a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the 
counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services. The amendments are effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier application is permitted. 
In July 2020, due to COVID-19, the IASB deferred the effective date by one year to provide 
companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from the amendments. 
The implementation of these amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Company. 
 
 

4. Acquisition 
 

On October 29, 2021 the Company completed the acquisition of CannTx by Entourage (the 
"Acquisition"). Following approval from CannTx shareholders, and satisfaction of other closing 
conditions, the formerly privately owned micro-propagator, which operates out of its licensed production 
facility in Guelph, Ontario, is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Entourage. 

 
Upon closing of the Acquisition, Entourage issued an aggregate of 57,352,487 Entourage common 
shares ("Common Shares") to CannTx shareholders of which an aggregate of 3,571,429 of such 
Common Shares will be held in escrow to secure indemnification and other obligations undertaken by 
certain vendors. 
 
On October 29, 2021 the closing price of Entourage common shares on the TSXV was $0.16 per share.  
 
Under the terms of the Acquisition, certain former CannTx shareholders entered into agreements 
pursuant to which an aggregate of 14,685,278 Common Shares is subject to a post-closing lock-up 
arrangement whereby one quarter of such Common Shares shall be released from lock-up in equal 
installments at the end of each six (6) month period following closing of the Acquisition. 
 
The transaction was accounted for as a business combination and has been accounted for by applying 
the acquisition method. Transaction costs of $466,897 were expensed with respect to the above 
acquisition. The goodwill resulting from the allocation of the purchase price to the total fair value of net 
assets represents revenue growth potential and expected synergies for the Company. The Company 
recorded $448,881 of revenue and $1,555,455 in loss in the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss in 2021 as a result of the acquisition. If the acquisition had occurred as at January 
1, 2021, revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 would have been $4,734,216 and the net loss 
in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss from the acquired operations would 
have been $6,590,200. 
 
None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

24 

 

The Company has finalized the purchase price allocation to the individual assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed using the acquisition method and has assigned the following values: 
 

 
 
5. Investments 
 

(a) On March 14, 2018, a subsidiary of the Company purchased 1,666,667 common shares of 
Scorpion Resources Inc., renamed to Blockstrain Technology Corp. and subsequently renamed to 
TruTrace Technologies Inc. (“TruTrace”), for a total subscription price of $500,000. TruTrace 
delivers a secure and immutable blockchain platform to establish global certainty for cannabis 
strains and their ownership. The investment was disposed of for proceeds of $31,505 during the 
year ended 2020 resulting in a realized loss of $45,070 and unrealized loss of $29,055 being 
recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Loss and Comprehensive Loss in 2020.  

 

(b) On March 16, 2018, a subsidiary of the Company purchased 2,500,000 common shares of Snipp 
Interactive Inc. for a total subscription price of $250,000. This investment has been classified as 
level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company 
disposed of 2,500,000 common shares for gross proceeds of $24,810, resulting in a realized loss 
of $25,190 in 2020.  
 

(c) As a result of the Acquisition of Starseed in 2019, the Company acquired 2,325,000 common 
shares of JDaily Inc. This investment has been classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and 
measured based on an exit price that was determined to be as Nil. As at December 31, 2021, the 
fair value of investment in shares of JDaily Inc. was Nil (December 31, 2020: $232,500) and the 
fair value change $232,500 (December 31, 2020: Nil) was recorded on the Consolidated Statement 
of Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the year then ended. 

 

(d) On July 3, 2018, the Company was granted 860,000 common shares of 3 Sixty Secure Corporation, 
renamed to 3 Sixty Risk Solutions Ltd. at a fair value of $137,259. During December 31, 2020, the 
Company disposed of 860,000 common shares for gross proceeds of $70,047 resulting in a 
realized gain of $31,770 in 2020.  
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(e) On January 10, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with Pita Pit Canada and a private 

company, to form Pioneer Cannabis Corp. (“Pioneer”), a cannabis retail services provider and 

franchise operation. The Company held 9.9% (cost of nil) with the option to purchase an additional 

40.2% if permitted by applicable laws. On April 17, 2019 Pioneer announced that it had signed an 

agreement to open the first Pioneer store in Ontario. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 

the Company purchased additional 40.2% stake for a nominal amount of $4,000.  Pioneer is a 

dormant entity having nominal assets and liabilities. The Company had also advanced a promissory 

note to Pioneer amounting to $963,917 which was impaired during the year ended December 31, 

2020. During 2021, the Company filed a litigation claim against Pioneer, details of which are 

described in Note 25- Contingencies.  

6. Inventory and Biological Assets 

Inventory 
 

Inventory is comprised of the following and is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value: 
 

 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized impairment of inventory 
amounting to $ 9,054,351 (2020 - $27,721,116) included in cost of goods sold and $8,681,132 (2020-
$14,853,519) included in realized fair value amounts included in inventory sold in the statements of 
loss and comprehensive loss.  

  
 

Biological assets 
 

The Company’s biological assets consist of cannabis plants. 
 

The changes in carrying value of the Company’s biological assets are as follows:  
    

 
 

All of the plants are to be harvested as agricultural produce. Indoor grow plants are up to twelve weeks 
from harvest (December 31, 2020: up to sixteen weeks) and the life cycle is estimated to be one 
hundred and two days (December 31, 2020: one hundred and forty-four days). The Company did not 
hold plants to be sold as live plants at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. Biological assets 
are classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. There have been no transfers between levels.  
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In accordance with IFRS, the Company is required to record its biological assets at fair value less cost 
to sell. At each reporting period, unharvested plants are adjusted to fair value less costs to complete 
and sell based on the estimated yield for harvests in progress. At the point of harvest or before they 
are transferred to Inventory, biological assets are adjusted to fair value less costs to complete and sell 
based on the actual yield in grams. At each reporting period, costs incurred upto harvest are capitalized 
to biological assets when the costs are incurred, fair value adjustments are recorded to reflect the 
difference between the capitalized costs and fair value less costs to complete and sell. Cannabis which 
has been harvested is transferred to inventory at the full biological asset carrying value, comprised of 
capitalized costs and fair value adjustments, for each harvest.   
 

To determine fair value the Company considers the following: 
 

• The product of the expected yield in grams per plant and the expected selling price per gram; 
• The expected selling price less selling costs and remaining costs to be incurred in order to complete 

the harvest and bring the harvested product to finished inventory; and 
 

The significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of cannabis plants are as follows:  
 

• Expected yield by plant adjusted for expected wastage – represents the expected number of grams 
of dry cannabis inventory which are expected to be obtained from each cannabis plant; 

• Percentage of costs incurred to date compared to the total expected costs to be incurred over the 
life of the plant are used to estimate the fair value of an in-process plant at each stage; 

• Expected weighted average selling price per gram of harvested cannabis – calculated as the 
weighted average historical selling price for all strains of cannabis sold by the Company, which is 
expected to approximate future selling prices; 

• Expected number of days remaining over the life of the plant; and 
• Expected number of days remaining in each stage of growth and over the life of the plant. 

 
The Company estimates harvest yields for the plants at various stages of growth. As of December 31, 
2021, it is expected that the Company’s biological assets that are to be harvested from its greenhouse 
facility will yield approximately 1,105,431 grams (December 31, 2020: 4,268,534 grams) with a value 
of $607,175 (December 31, 2020: $1,955,697), based on the current stage of growth. The weighted 
average selling price used in the valuation is $0.59 per gram (December 31, 2020: $1.26 per gram) 
and is based on a normalized historical average selling price, adjusted based on expected future sales 
mix, can vary based on different grades of cannabis. The Company estimates percentage of costs 
incurred based on the stage of growth. Plants on hand at December 31, 2021, have incurred an average 
of 40% of costs to harvest (December 31, 2020: 46%). 
 
The Company’s estimates are, by their nature, subject to change. Changes in the anticipated yield will 
be reflected in future changes in the gain or loss on biological assets. The Company performed a 
sensitivity analysis on the fair value of biological assets using the most sensitive inputs to the fair value 
methodology. The following table quantifies each significant unobservable input, and also provides the 
impact of a reasonable increase/decrease that each input would have on the fair value of the 
Company’s greenhouse biological assets. 
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7. Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities 
 
The following is a breakdown of the carrying amount of the Right-of-Use assets as at December 31, 2021 
and 2020: The weighted average incremental borrowing rate was applied from 5.95% to 15.5% for the 
leases.  
    

  
 
The Company has transferred assets held for sale related to Starseed Medicinal. Refer to Note 10.  
 
The following is a breakdown of the carrying amount of the Lease liabilities as at December 31, 2021 and 
2020: 
     

 
 
The lease commitment schedule for all future lease payments is outlined in the table below: 
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment 
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Total depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $6,814,534 (year ended December 31, 
2020: $6,902,871), of which $3,334,169 (year ended December 31, 2020: $5,122,889) has been 
capitalized in inventory, $2,420,151 has been capitalized to biological assets (year ended December 
31, 2020: $2,790,804) and remaining depreciation of $1,060,214 (December 31, 2020: $nil) is directly 
expensed to Selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. During the year, the Company has recorded an impairment of $14,119,007 
(December 31, 2020: $6,200,000) on property, plant and equipment Refer to Note 9. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company transferred certain assets related to Starseed 
Medicinal to assets held for sale and subsequent sale was completed in 2021. Refer Note to 10.  
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9. Intangible Assets 
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Impairment 
 
At the end of each year, the Company assesses whether there were events or changes in circumstances 
that would indicate that a CGU or group of CGUs were impaired. The Company considers external and 
internal factors, including overall financial performance and relevant entity-specific factors, as part of this 
assessment. 
 
Goodwill was initially recognized on acquisition of Starseed Holdings Inc. in December, 2019 and on 
acquisition of CannTx (Refer Note 4) and is monitored at company-wide CGU level. The Company noted 
indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, including market capitalization and ongoing 
business transformation plans and, as a result, carried out an assessment of the impairment of its goodwill 
and other assets. In testing for impairment, goodwill and other assets acquired in a business combination 
were allocated to the cash-generating units to which they related. As a result of impairment testing 
performed December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company determined an impairment loss of $31,165,073 
(December 31, 2020 - $34,800,000), representing the difference between the recoverable amount and the 
carrying value of the CGU.   
 
The impairment loss during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 has been allocated as follows: 
  

• Goodwill - $6,011,097 (December 31, 2020- $16,123,601); 
• Intangible assets - $7,381,415 (December 31, 2020- $12,376,399); 
• Property, plant and equipment - $14,119,007 (December 31, 2020- $6,200,000); and  
• Right of use assets -$3,653,554 (December 31, 2020- $100,000) 
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The significant assumptions applied in the determination of the value in use amount as at December 31 
2020 and fair value less cost of disposal for 2021, are as explained as follows: 
  

 Cash flows: Estimated cash flows were projected based on estimated operating results from 
internal sources as well as industry and market trends. Estimated cash flows are primarily driven 
by sales volumes, selling prices and operating costs. The forecasts are extended to a total of five 
years (and a terminal year thereafter) and were approved by the management. In 2021, a cost of 
disposal of 5% and tax rate of 26.50% was used in the cash flow projection model; 
 

 Terminal value growth rate: The terminal growth rate was based on historical and projected 
consumer price inflation, historical and projected economic indicators, and projected industry 
growth; 

 
 Pre-tax discount rate: The pre-tax discount rate is reflective of the CGUs Weighted Average Cost 

of Capital (“WACC”). The WACC was estimated based on the risk-free rate, equity risk premium, 
beta adjustment to the equity risk premium based on a direct comparison approach, an 
unsystematic risk premium, and cost of debt based on corporate bond yields; and 

  
The key assumptions used are as follows: 

  

   

In allocating the impairment loss for the current year, consideration was given to not reducing the carrying 

value of the property, plant and equipment comprising the Company’s land and building below its fair value 

less costs of disposal. Such fair value was determined based on a third-party appraisal using market and 

cost approaches. Consideration was given to information from manufacturers, historical data and industry 

standards which constitute both observable and unobservable inputs (level 2 and level 3). 

 

10. Assets held for sale 
 

On January 19, 2021, the Company entered into a letter of intent (LOI) with a third-party buyer to sell all of 
the outstanding shares (Transaction) of SMI, a 100% subsidiary of Starseed Holdings Inc. (SHI), which in 
turn is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. A share purchase agreement was signed on March 15, 
2021 to sell 100% of the outstanding shares of SMI on a cash-free and debt-free basis for a purchase price 
of $2,500,000. SMI is a holder of a licence to cultivate, process and sell cannabis under the Cannabis Act 
and Cannabis Regulations from its facility located at 1100 Bennett Road, Bowmanville, Ontario (the 
"Bowmanville Facility"). The lease liabilities along with right-of-use assets and related licence, as well as all 
property, plant and equipment of SMI were included in the sale of SMI. Certain key contracts and customer 
relationships have been excluded from the share purchase, and were transferred, along with the medical 
cannabis operations, SMI trademarks and ongoing business of SMI, to SHI. The Company vacated from 
and ceased all meaningful operations at the Bowmanville Facility during the first quarter of 2021. 
 
The initial decision to initiate a sale process for the Bowmanville Facility happened in November 2020 when 
management signed a non-disclosure agreement with the first broker engaged by management on October 
30, 2020 and formal discussions initiated with a second broker on November 3, 2020.  
 
On November 20, 2020, a memorandum was prepared by management to outline the transaction structure 
possibilities and later more formality was added to the process by delivering to all interested parties a 
process letter on November 30, 2020. Assets at the Bowmanville Facility are classified as held for sale as 
management considered the net assets to be included in the sale to meet the criteria to be classified as 
held for sale at that date for the following reasons: 
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• Assets at the Bowmanville Facility are available for immediate sale and can be sold to the buyer in 
its current condition 

• The actions to complete the sale were initiated and expected to be completed within one year from 
the date of initial classification 

• A potential buyer has been identified and negotiations as at the reporting date are at an advance 
stage 

• The Company approved the plan to sell in November 2020. 
 
 
The transfer of the assets held at the Bowmanville Facility were completed by the end of the second quarter 
of 2021. The net assets of SMI included in the share purchase agreement, classified as a disposal group 
held of sale, and measured at the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. The fair value 
less costs to sell was determined to be $2,179,699 which includes the $2,500,000 sale price, net of 
$453,951 costs to sell and $133,650 pertains to reduction in lease liability. The costs to sell include legal 
fees, advisory fees and costs to the landlord of the Bowmanville Facility.  
 

During the second quarter of 2021, the Company received $1,990,881 from the disposal of assets held for 
sale, $188,818 was transferred to receivables as it pertains to lease payments recoverable from the third 
party buyer and $332,696 was loss on sale of assets held for sale.  
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11. Unsecured Convertible Debentures 
    

 
 

 
a) 2019 convertible debenture 

On September 25, 2019, the Company closed a bought-deal short-form prospectus offering of 
13,115 convertible unsecured debentures units (the “2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures”) at 
a price per 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debenture of $1,000 for gross proceeds of $13,115,000 
(the “Offering”) with a syndicate of underwriters. The 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures bear 
interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum from the date of issue, payable semi-annually in arrears on 
June 30 and December 31 of each year. The 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures have a 
maturity date of September 25, 2022 (the “Maturity Date”).  

 
The 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures are convertible at the option of the holder into Shares 
of the Company at any time prior to the earlier of: 

 
(i) close of business on the Maturity Date, and (ii) the business day immediately preceding the date 
specified by the Company for redemption of the 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures upon a 
change in control at a conversion price of $1.60 per Share (the “Conversion Price”).  
 

The Company may force the conversion of the principal amount of the then outstanding Convertible 
Debentures at the Conversion Price on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ notice 
should the daily volume weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on the TSXV be 
greater than $3.20 for the consecutive 20 trading days preceding the notice. 
 
Upon a Change of Control of the Company, holders of the 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures 
will have the right to require the Company to repurchase their Convertible Debentures, in whole or 
in part, on the date that is 30 days following the giving of notice of the Change of Control, at a price 
equal to 104% of the principal amount of the Convertible Debentures then outstanding plus accrued 
and unpaid interest thereon (the "Offer Price"). If 90% or more of the principal amount of the 
Convertible Debentures outstanding on the date of the notice of the Change of Control have been 
tendered for redemption, the Company will have the right to redeem all of the remaining Convertible 
Debentures at the Offer Price. 
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In connection with the Company’s 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debenture, the Company issued 
8,196,875 warrants to the holders of the 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures. Each warrant is 
exercisable into one Share at the Conversion Price ($1.80) for a period of 36 months following the 
closing of the Offering. The fair value of the warrants was estimated as $3,977,461 with reference 
to the Monte Carlo option pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected dividend yield 
of 0%; (ii) expected volatility of 76.74%; (iii) risk-free rate of 1.53%; (iv) share price of $1.33; (v) 
forfeiture rate of nil; (vi) expected life of three years. Expected volatility is based on the historical 
volatility of other companies that the Company considers comparable. The Monte Carlo option 
pricing model was deemed applicable to these warrants and the conversion feature as they have 
accelerated vesting terms based on the volume weighted average trading price of the outstanding 
common shares on the TSX Venture Exchange. The Black Scholes option pricing model does not 
address the accelerated vesting terms, and potential change in the time to the warrant's and 
conversion feature’s expiry. The fair value of the liability component at the time of issue was 
calculated as the discounted cash flows for the 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures assuming 
a market interest rate of 20.92%, which was the estimated rate for the 2019 Unsecured Convertible 
Debentures without the equity component of the conversion feature. The effective interest rate of 
the 2019 Unsecured Convertible Debentures after reflecting issuance costs was 26.67%.  
 

The residual of the principal less the present value of the liability component was allocated to the 
conversion option and the warrants based on their relative fair value, resulting in an allocation of 
$1,514,025 to the conversion option and $1,447,359 to the warrants. 

 
The fair value of the conversion feature has been estimated as $4,283,419 using the Monte Carlo 
pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected dividend yield of 0%; (ii) expected 
volatility of 76.74%; (iii) risk-free interest rate of 1.53%; (iv) share price of $1.33; forfeiture rate of 
nil; and (v) expected life of three years. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of 
other companies that the Company considers comparable.  
 

The Company also issued to the Underwriters 983,624 compensation warrants with a fair value of 
$587,293. 491,812 of the compensation warrants are exercisable into one Share at an exercise 
price of $1.60 per share for a period of up to 36 months following the close of the Offering and 
491,812 of the compensation warrants are exercisable into one Share at an exercise price of $1.80 
per share for a period of up to 36 months following the close of the Offering. The Company paid 
$1,262,942 in cash for transaction and commission costs. The cash transaction costs and 
compensation warrants are directly attributable transaction costs and have been allocated to the 
liability, warrants and conversion feature components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, $350,000 of the Company’s 2019 Unsecured 
Convertible Debentures were converted into 218,750 common shares at the option of the holder. 
There were no debentures converted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company made interest payments amounting to 
$1,100,262 (December 31, 2020 - $1,070,162).  
 
As a part of the acquisition (Note 4), the company also acquired unsecured convertible debentures 
issued for gross proceeds of $1,013,500. On acquisition date, these convertible debentures were 
fair valued amounting to $886,035 using a present value technique, by discounting the contractual 
cash flows using a market interest rate of companies with similar credit risk. The discount rate 
applied in determining the discounted cash flows of the debentures was 16.6%. The fair value of 
the conversion feature on acquired convertible debentures were recorded in the consolidated 
statements of changes in shareholders’ equity amounting to $112,095 using the below stated 
assumptions. During the year ended, the Company incurred $10,585 in accretion expense relating 
to these debentures. 
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The following assumptions were used in Monte- Carlo Simulation model on acquisition date: 
 

 Stock price of $0.16 
 Expected maturity of 2.42 years 
 Volatility of 86% 
 Discount rate of 1.1% 
 Conversion price of $0.5 

 
 
12. Loans and Borrowings 

 

 
 

Financial Institution loan 
 
On March 29, 2019, the Company entered into combined secured credit agreements totaling $39.1 
million (collectively, "Credit Facilities"). The Credit Facilities are comprised of the following: 
 
Facility 1: $3,000,000 committed Revolving Credit Facility (the "Revolver"); 
Facility 2: $33,150,000 committed term loan;  
Facility 3: $3,000,000 committed term loan. 
Facility 4: $500,000 for working capital purposes (not yet withdrawn as of December 31, 2021) 
 
The Credit Facilities mature March 29, 2022 ("Maturity Date").  
 
The guarantors are 2686912 Ontario Limited, 2686913 Ontario Inc, Starseed Holdings Inc, North Star 
Wellness Inc and 2690870 Ontario Inc. The loan is secured against the borrower guarantee, liens on 
personal property, pledge of shares, lien over real property (carrying value amounting to $81,700,129 
pertaining to property, plant and equipment), leased property, insurance and shareholder loan. 
 
The amount available under Facility 4 shall be added to the Revolving Credit Commitment (Facility 1) 
for the period commencing on the date that the Sixth Amendment to the Credit Agreement becomes 
effective until the earlier of (a) the date on which the Additional LiUNA Pension Fund of Central and 
Eastern Canada (“LPF”) Loan becomes available or (b) December 31, 2021. On that date, Facility 4 
terminates and the amount available under the Revolving Credit remains at $3,000,000. Any amount 
outstanding under the Revolving Facility in excess of $3,000,000 must be repaid immediately. Facility 
4 was expired on December 31, 2021.  
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Facility 1 requires interest-only payments with the balance due on the Maturity Date. As at December 
31, 2021, $2,930,157 (December 31, 2020: $3,290,620) was outstanding.  
 
Facility 2 requires interest-only payments until December 31, 2020, or such later date agreed upon 
conversion date, at which point the principal will become payable and will amortize over ten years with 
the remaining due upon the maturity date. The amortization period is 10 years but the term is for 3 
years. As at December 31, 2021, $26,291,544 (December 31, 2020- $32,434,599) was outstanding.  

 
Facility 3 requires interest-only payments until the Conversion Date*, at which point the principal will 
become payable and will amortize over five years with the remaining due upon the Maturity Date. The 
amortization period is 10 years but the term is for 3 years. As at December 31, 2021, $2,019,782 
(December 31, 2020- $2,800,000) was outstanding.  
 
*Conversion date means March 28, 2022 or such later date as the Lenders and the Borrower may 
agree provided that, as of the date of any request for extension of the then applicable conversion date, 
the Required Lenders are satisfied that:  

 

(a) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and  
(b) the Credit Parties shall be in compliance with all terms and conditions of the Loan Documents, 
including all financial covenants that apply after the Conversion Date.  
 
On June 30, 2020, the Company signed an amendment to its senior secured credit facility entered into 
on March 29, 2019 (the "Credit Facility") (the "Credit Agreement Amendment"). Under the terms of the 
Credit Agreement Amendment, the conversion date was amended from June 30, 2020, to June 30, 
2021, and was further extended to December 31, 2021, resulting in a deferral of certain covenants by 
another six months. In addition, the Company has agreed to a 50-basis point increase in the applicable 
interest rate margin on the Credit Facility (first amendment), which was further increased by 25 basis 
points on October 18, 2021.   
 

Due to the modification of interest and principal repayment (repayment of principal payment of $3 million 
from restricted cash), the net present value of changes to the future contractual cash flows adjusts the 
carrying amount of the original debt with the difference immediately recognized in profit or loss. The 
adjusted carrying amount is then amortized over the remaining term of the (modified) liability using the 
original effective interest rate. 
 

On December 23, 2021, the Company announced that it had signed an amendment to its secured credit 
facility entered into on March 29, 2019 (the "Credit Facility"). Under the terms of the amendment, the 
Company secured a deferral of certain of its financial covenants to December 31, 2021, including the 
amendment of Conversion Date from December 31, 2021, to March 28, 2022. In addition, the Company 
has agreed to a 25-basis point increase in the applicable interest rate margin on the Credit Facility and 
retains the option, at the Company's discretion, to add interest accrued to the principal loan amount. 
The Credit Facility provides the Company with non-dilutive financing and greater financial flexibility in 
alignment with market conditions. 
 

There is no change in the principal repayment other than the restricted cash of $3 million was adjusted 
against the principal repayment.  
 

Under the Credit Facilities until the Conversion Date the Company must maintain a total funded debt 
to tangible net worth ratio of not more than 1:1. At or after the Conversion Date the Company must 
maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25:1, a senior funded debt to EBITDA of not more 
than 3:1, and maintain a total funded debt to EBITDA ratio of not more than 4:1. For the year ended 
December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the applicable covenants. For the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the Company was in breach to comply with only one of the covenants 
specific to total funded debt to tangible net worth ratio of not more than 1:1, however the Company 
received a written waiver from the lender prior to issuance of the consolidated financial statements. 
Accordingly, the Credit Facilities have been presented as current liabilities as at December 31, 2021. 
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On March 30, 2022, the Company secured an extension of the maturity date of the Credit Facility from 
March 28, 2022 to May 31, 2022, and a deferral of certain of its financial covenants to May 31, 2022, 
subject to certain conditions (Refer subsequent events Note 30).  
 
The Company is currently in discussion with its lenders to amend the payment terms. 
 
LiUNA Pension Fund of Central and Eastern Canada (“LPF”) Loan 
 

On September 23, 2020, the Company had entered into a credit facility with LPF. Under the terms, LPF 
provided the Company $30 million, maturing in August 2022 and bearing a 15% interest rate per annum 
and shall accrue daily and be payable monthly in arrears, with a payment-in-kind option at the 
Company's discretion, to add interest accrued to the principal loan amount.  
 

The guarantors are 2686912 Ontario Limited, 2686913 Ontario Inc, Starseed Holdings Inc, North Star 
Wellness Inc and 2690870 Ontario Inc. The loan is secured against the borrower guarantee, liens on 
personal property, pledge of shares, lien over real property (carrying value amounting to $81,700,129 
pertaining to property, plant and equipment), leased property, insurance and shareholder loan. 
 
On October 28, 2021, the Company amended its existing credit facility ("Credit Facility") with LPF 
resulting in an interest rate increase of 25 basis points.  

 
Based on the agreement dated December 23, 2021, the Company received additional disbursement of 
$20 million proceeds from LPF for use by the Company for general working Capital purposes, maturing 
in August 2022 and bearing a 15% interest rate per annum and shall accrue daily and be payable 
monthly in arrears, with a payment-in-kind option at the Company's discretion, to add interest accrued 
to the principal loan amount. LPF is a shareholder of the Company (2021: 7.5%; 2020: 10.9%). As at 
December 31, 2021, $55,964,613 (December 31, 2020- $31,125,000) was outstanding.  
 
Under the Credit Facilities until the Conversion Date the Company must maintain a total funded debt 
to tangible net worth ratio of not more than 1:1. At or after the Conversion Date the Company must 
maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25:1, a senior funded debt to EBITDA of not more 
than 3:1, and maintain a total funded debt to EBITDA ratio of not more than 4:1. For the year ended 
December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the applicable covenants. For the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the Company was in breach to comply with only one of the covenants 
specific to total funded debt to tangible net worth ratio of not more than 1:1, however the Company 
received a written waiver from the lender prior to issuance of the consolidated financial statements. 
Accordingly, the Credit Facilities have been presented as current liabilities as at December 31, 2021. 
 

1217174 Ontario LTD 
 

As a part of the acquisition (refer note 4), the Company entered into a Loan agreement with 1217174 
Ontario LTD for an aggregate principal balance of $5,000,000. The maturity date of the loan is 5 years 
from the date of acquisition. The interest rate of the loan is 6.21% payable on a monthly basis. There 
is a General Security agreement in place.  
 

Concurrent with the loan, 1217174 Ontario LTD was granted 3,116,667 warrants with an exercise price 
of $0.354 per share purchase warrant. The expiry date of the warrants is December 15, 2024. The fair 
value estimate has been determined from the perspective of a market participant that holds similar 
loans without the share purchase warrants attached. The fair value of $3,653,050 on draw down date 
was estimated using a present value technique, by discounting the contractual cash flows using a 
market interest rate of companies with similar credit risk.  
 

The discount rate applied in determining the discounted cash flows of the loan was 16.6%.  
 

During the year ended, the Company incurred $51,750 in interest and $21,565 in accretion expense 
relating to these loans. 
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Restricted Cash 
 

As at December 31, 2021, restricted cash amounted to $100,000 pertains to Credit card security (As 
at December 31, 2020 - $3,296,180 pertains to Credit card security and the debt service reserve). 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the amendment in the agreement with the financial 
institution deleted the requirement for maintaining the debt service reserve ratio and the Company used 
$3,012,650 of restricted cash to repay the principal amount of the financial institution loan.  

 
13.  Share Capital 

   

 
 

a) On February 4, 2020, the Company announced that its shareholders voted in favour of the 
resolution approving the private placement and exercise of subscription receipts with the LiUNA 
Pension of Central and Eastern Canada for gross proceeds of $25 million, which was completed 
as part of the Company’s acquisition of Starseed Holdings Inc. With the approval, the subscription 
receipts automatically convert into 23,079,763 common shares of the Company and resulted in the 
creation of a new control person as defined under the applicable policies of the TSX Venture 
Exchange. 
 

b) On February 10, 2021, one consultant exercised an option for 425,000 shares when the share price 
was $0.94.  

 
c) On March 2, 2021, the Company announced a $17.5 million bought deal financing as the Company 

entered into an amended and restated underwriting agreement dated March 2, 2021, with Eight 
Capital and Canaccord Genuity Corp., as joint bookrunners and co-lead underwriters, and INFOR 
Financial Inc. (together with the co-lead underwriters, to amend the terms of the Offering to issue 
to the underwriters 31,250,000 units of the Company at a price per unit of $0.48 for gross proceeds 
of $15,000,000. Each unit comprised of one common share of the Company and one-half of one 
common share purchase warrant. Each Warrant shall entitle the holder thereof to purchase one 
common share at an exercise price of $0.60, for a period of 24 months following the closing of the 
Offering. On March 12, 2021, the Company closed its previously announced bought deal short-
form prospectus offering of 35,937,500 units at a price of $0.48 per unit for aggregate gross 
proceeds of $17,250,000, including full exercise of the over-allotment. The Units were offered and 
sold by way of a short-form prospectus filed with the securities commissions in each of the 
provinces of Canada, other than Quebec and Newfoundland. Each unit will be comprised of one 
common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. If after March 
12, 2022 the daily volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on the TSXV is 
equal to or greater than $0.96 per common share for the preceding 10 consecutive trading days, 
the Company shall have the right to accelerate the expiry date of the Warrants to a date that is 30 
trading days following the date of the Company issues a press release disclosing such acceleration. 
Also refer Note 14. 
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d) Upon closing of the Acquisition, Entourage issued an aggregate of 57,352,487 Entourage common 
shares ("Common Shares") to CannTx shareholders of which an aggregate of 3,571,429 of such 
Common Shares will be held in escrow for a period of 12 months to secure indemnification and 
other obligations undertaken by certain vendors. 
 

Under the terms of the Acquisition, certain former CannTx shareholders entered into agreements 
pursuant to which an aggregate of 14,685,278 Common Shares is subject to a post-closing lock-
up arrangement whereby one quarter of such Common Shares shall be released from lock-up in 
equal installments at the end of each six (6) month period following closing of the Acquisition. 

 

On October 29, 2021 the closing price of Entourage common shares on the TSXV was $0.16 per 
share, which translates to $9,176,398 as the consideration paid. Also refer Note 4 for additional 
details. 

 
14. Warrants 

 

  

 
 

a) The warrants issued on January 11, 2018 with a total of 8,023,256 was expired on January 11, 
2020.  
 

b) Pursuant to the closing of the offering of 35,937,500 units on March 12, 2021, the Company 
received aggregate gross proceeds of $17,250,000. Each unit comprised of one common share of 
the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. The Company incurred in total 
cash issuance cost of $1,667,630, which includes an accrual of $506,804. Warrants issued during 

the year ended December 31, 2021, are classified as equity as it meets the fixed-to-fixed criteria 
as there is no variability in the exercise price and the number of shares to be converted on exercise 
of warrants are known at inception. The Company used Monte-Carlo Simulation model to determine 
the fair value of these warrants of $2,382,485 on issuance date. The gross proceeds and the 
issuance cost have been allocated into share capital and warrants based on their relative fair 
values.  
 
In addition, On March 12, 2021, the Company also issued 2,156,250 of broker warrant units to be 
exercised at $0.48, for a period of 24 months following the closing of the Offering subject to 
adjustments of certain events. Each warrant unit comprised of one common share of the Company 
and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each Warrant shall entitle the holder thereof 
to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.60, for a period of 24 months following 
the closing of the Offering.  The Company used Monte-Carlo Simulation model to determine the 
fair value of these warrant units of $420,007 on issuance date.  The fair value of these broker 
warrant units is considered as issuance costs and have been allocated into share capital and 
warrants based on their relative fair values. 
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The following assumptions were used in Monte- Carlo Simulation model on issuance date: 
 

 Stock price of $0.48 
 Expected maturity of 2 years 
 Volatility of 89.91% 
 Discount rate of 0.31% 
 Exercise price of $0.48 - $0.60 

 

 
Warrant pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions, and changes in the input 
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimation. Expected volatility is based on the 
historical volatility in the stock price. The expected life in years represents the period of time that 
warrants issued are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate was based on the zero-coupon 
government of Canada bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the warrants. 

 
c) As a part of the acquisition (refer note 4), the Company entered into a Loan agreement with 

1217174 Ontario LTD for an aggregate principal balance of $5,000,000 (Refer note 12) 
 

Concurrent with the loan, 1217174 Ontario LTD was granted 3,116,667 warrants with an exercise 
price of $0.354 per share purchase warrant. The expiry date of the warrants is December 15, 2024. 
The fair value estimate has been determined from the perspective of a market participant that holds 
similar loans without the share purchase warrants attached. The fair value of the loan component 
amounting to $3,653,050 on draw down date was estimated using a present value technique, by 
discounting the contractual cash flows using a market interest rate of companies with similar credit 
risk. Warrants were fair valued using the below stated assumptions amounting to $172,216 and 
were recorded in the warrant reserves in the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ 
equity.  
 
The following assumptions were used in Monte- Carlo Simulation model on acquisition date: 
 

 Stock price of $0.16 
 Expected maturity of 3.13 years 
 Volatility of 80.8% 
 Discount rate of 1.16% 
 Exercise price of $0.354 

 
Warrant pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions, and changes in the input 
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimation. Expected volatility is based on the 
historical volatility in the stock price. The expected life in years represents the period of time that 
warrants issued are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate was based on the zero-coupon 
government of Canada bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the warrants. 

 

15. Contributed Surplus 
 

The Company has established a stock option plan for its directors, officers, employees and consultants 
under which the Company may grant options from time to time to acquire a maximum of 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Shares. The exercise price of each option granted under the plan shall be 
determined by the Board of Directors. 
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As at December 31, 2021, the Company’s outstanding stock options consists of the following:  
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As at December 31, 2021, 12,090,616 (December 31, 2020: 14,139,665) Shares have been reserved 
for stock options as follows:  
 

  
 

a) On July 17, 2020, the Company granted 2,469,500 options to management, employees, 
directors and consultants of the Company which were valued based on the value of the 
instruments as the value of the services was not reliably determinable. Each option is 
exercisable into one common share at an exercise price of $0.40, until July 16, 2025. 832,167 
of the options vest over four months, 832,167 of the options vest over eight month, 832,166 of 
the options vest over 12 months, The fair value of the Options has been estimated using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) expected dividend yield 
of 0%; (ii) expected volatility of 106.6%; (iii) risk-free interest rate of 0.35%; (iv) share price of 
$0.41; (v) forfeiture rate of nil; and (vi) expected life of 60 months. The total fair value of the 
options is $781,000. Total share-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2020 
is $1,474,757 which includes $531,514 pertaining to stock options issued in 2020. 
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b) On July 20, 2020, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 
2,688,314 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors and officers of the Company based 
on the fair value of the services provided. Of the DSUs granted, 1,441,647 will vest immediately, 
623,334 vested on December 8, 2020, and 623,333 will vest on June 8, 2021. The grant date 
fair value of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant 
date and value of the services provided.  
 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $1,048,442. Share-based 
compensation for the year ended December 31, 2020 is $928,774 and December 31, 2021 is 
$119,668. 

 
c) On August 5, 2020, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 

356,434 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the first and second quarter of 2020. The grant date 
fair value of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant 
date. Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $128,316 included in the 
share-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2020.  
 

d) On October 22, 2020, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 
158,026 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the third quarter of 2020. The grant date fair value 
of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant date. 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $41,087 included in the share-
based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

 
e) On December 31, 2020, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 

265,491 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the fourth quarter of 2020. The grant date fair value 
of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant date. 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $65,045 included in the share-
based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

 

f) On April 07, 2021, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 
275,864 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the first quarter of 2021. The grant date fair value 
of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant date. 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $80,000.  
 

g) On June 30, 2021, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 
280,700 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the second quarter of 2021. The grant date fair 
value of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant date. 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $80,000.  
 

h) On September 30, 2021, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate 
of 736,018 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the third quarter of 2021. The grant date fair value 
of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant date. 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $139,843.  
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i) On December 31, 2021, the Company determined and authorized the grant of an aggregate of 
2,226,473 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to certain directors of the Company based on the fair 
value of the services provided. The DSUs will vest immediately and are granted in lieu of cash 
compensation for services rendered during the fourth quarter of 2021. The grant date fair value 
of the DSUs equals the fair market value of the corresponding shares at the grant date. 
Management estimates the total fair value of the DSUs to be $222,509. 

 

j) On September 31, 2021, the Company granted 125,000 options to an employee of the 
Company which were valued based on the value of the instruments as the value of the services 
was not reliably determinable. Each option is exercisable into one common share at an exercise 
price of $0.40, until September 31, 2026. These options vest quarterly over 12 months. The 
fair value of the Options has been estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
the following assumptions: (i) expected dividend yield of 0%; (ii) expected volatility of 90.8%; 
(iii) risk-free interest rate of 0.48%; (iv) share price of $0.19; (v) forfeiture rate of nil; and (vi) 
expected life of 60 months. The total fair value of the options is $21,038. Total share-based 
compensation for the year ended December 31, 2021 is $452,773. 

 

k) Stock options expired during the year ended December 31, 2021 represents options expired 
due to employee turnover.  

 
 
16. Income Taxes 
 

Income Tax Rate Reconciliation 
  

 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset where they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the Company has the legal right and intent to offset. 
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The Canadian non-capital loss carry forwards expire as noted in the table below: 
 
The net capital losses may be carried forward indefinitely, but can only be used to reduce capital gains. 
 
Share issue and financing costs will be fully amortized in 2025. The remaining deductible temporary 
differences may be carried forward indefinitely. 
 
Deferred tax assets of $54,231,124 have not been recognized because it is not probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the company can utilize the benefits therefrom.  
 

 
 
17. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

 
     

 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2021, Salaries and benefits included in COGS amount to $ 3,947,647.  
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18. Finance Costs 

 
    

 
 
 
19. Loss per Share 

     

 
  
For periods where the Company records a loss, the Company calculates diluted loss per share using 
the basic weighted average number of shares. If the diluted weighted average number of shares were 
used, the result would be a reduction in the loss, which would be anti-dilutive. Consequently, for the 
year ended December 31, 2021, the Company calculated loss per share using 249,012,535 (December 
31,2020: 208,047,322) common shares. The effect of options, warrants and conversion feature was 
anti-dilutive. 

 
20. Change in Non-cash Operating Working Capital 

      

 
 
Unearned revenue consists mainly of revenue relating to Bulk Sale made to one customer as at 
December 31, 2019 amounting to $2,512,967. Unearned revenue is recognized as revenue upon 
acceptance of delivery by the customer. Unearned revenue was recognized as revenue at the 
beginning of the year ended December 31, 2020. As at year ended December 31, 2021, the company 
recorded Nil (December 31, 2020- $Nil) as unearned revenue. 
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21. Trade and other receivables 
 

 

 
The ageing of outstanding receivables for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are detailed 
as below: 

   
 

Trade receivables are from sale of dried cannabis and cannabis extracts sold directly to medical 
patients (“Medical”), wholesale of finished products to provinces and provincially regulated distributors 
(“Adult Use”), and wholesale of bulk to other Licensed Producers and Provincially regulated distributors 
(“Bulk”).  
 
Trade receivables for Medical are mostly paid upfront or settled by Insurance providers through direct 
billing, Adult use receivables are generally received within 90 days of sale from the provincial boards 
and bulk use receivables are outstanding as at year end but do not exceed aging above 30 days due 
to which there are no expected credit losses for the Company.  
 

22. Account payables and accrued liabilities 
 
   

 
 
23. Revenue 
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, 58% (December 31, 2020: 48%) of total revenue is from 3 
customers (December 31, 2020: 3 customers) each representing more than 10% of the Company’s 
revenue. As at December 31, 2021, the Company recognized a contract liability of $408,908 pertaining 
to customer returns (December 31, 2020 - $514,656) which is expected to settle within one operating 
cycle. During the year ended December 31, 2021, actual returns amounted to $616,472 recorded net 
of revenue in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 

24. Related Party Transactions 
 
The Company’s key management includes the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
People Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Senior Vice President of Operations and all directors. 
Transactions with related parties include salaries, share based compensation and service fees. 
 
The amounts due to related parties are recorded at the exchange amounts as agreed upon by the 
related parties under contracts signed with them, non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed 
repayment terms, other than the credit facility within LiUNA Pension Fund of Central and Eastern 
Canada (“LPF”) 
 
On September 23, 2020, the Company had entered into a credit facility with the LPF – a major 
shareholder of the Company. Under the terms, LPF provided the Company $30 million, maturing in 
August 2022 and bearing a 15% interest rate per annum and shall accrue daily and be payable monthly 
in arrears, with a payment-in-kind option at the Company’s discretion, to capitalize interest in lieu of 
cash payment of interest. If an event of default has occurred and is continuing, the loan shall bear 
interest, both before and after judgment, at a rate per annum of 20%. The financing was closed on 
September 30, 2020. The transaction cost of $0.9 million was adjusted against the loan and will be 
accreted over the terms of the loan. The loan is secured against the borrower guarantee, liens on 
personal property, pledge of shares, lien over real property, leased property, insurance and shareholder 
loan. 
 
On October 18, 2021, the Company signed an amendment to the credit facility with the LiUNA Pension 
Fud of Central and Eastern Canada (“LPF”). Under the revised terms, LPF provided the Company with 
an additional disbursement of $20 million and increased the interest rate by 25 basis points with other 
terms remaining the same. The transaction cost of $0.3 million was adjusted against the loan and will 
be accreted over the terms of the loan.  
 
The total interest charged on loan was $5,083,944 for the year ended December 31, 2021 (December 
31, 2020 - $1,125,000). 

 

The balances outstanding for remuneration/service fees/ share based compensation payable to key 
management are as follows: 
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For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, total remuneration/service fees/ share based 
compensation expensed pertaining to the key management is as follows: 
  

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, 125,000 stock options (year ended December 31, 2020: 
3,468,265) were issued with fair value of $21,094 (year ended December 31, 2020: $1,282,891). 

 
25. Commitments and Contingencies 

 
Commitments 
 
The commitment schedule for all future committed payments excluding lease payments disclosed in 
Note 7 is outlined in the table below: 
 

 
 
Contingencies 
 
On July 2, 2021, Pioneer (Note 5), an investee of the Company, commenced legal action against a 
former executive of Pioneer to seek damages in the amount of $1,235,292 for the recovery of funds 
advanced to the former executive. These advances were partially funded through a promissory note 
issued by the Company. On November 22, 2021, Pioneer received a counterclaim from the former 
Pioneer executive, amounting to $1,000,000 for breach of contract, misrepresentation, and breach of 
franchise disclosure obligations. The Company believes that the outcome of this claim and counterclaim 
will not have any material effect on its consolidated financial statements.   
 

26. Financial Instruments 
 
Transactions in financial instruments may result in an entity assuming or transferring to another party 
one or more of the financial risks described below. The required disclosures provide information that 
assists users of financial statements in assessing the extent of risk related to financial instruments. 

 
(a) Fair value 

 
Fair value measurement is disaggregated into three hierarchical levels: Level 1, 2 or 3. Fair value 
hierarchical levels are directly based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurement are observable. The levels are as follows: 
 
Level 1 – Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date. 
 
 
 



Entourage Health Corp. (Formerly WeedMD Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 

52 

 

 
 
Level 2 – Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date 
and for the duration of the asset or liability’s anticipated life. 
 

Level 3 – Inputs are unobservable and reflect management’s best estimate of what market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is 
given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs in determining 
the estimate. 
 
The carrying values of cash (Level 1), trade and other receivables (Level 2), accounts payable 
(Level 2) and accrued liabilities (Level 2), short term loan and borrowings (Level 2) approximate 
their fair values because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments. Long term loan 
and borrowings and unsecured convertible debentures are recorded at amortized cost. 

 
(b)  Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

 
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk on its trade and other receivables which has a balance of 
$7,677,210 (December 31, 2020: $2,252,820). 
 
As at December 31, 2021, 54% (December 31, 2020: 61%) of the Company’s trade and other 
receivables balance, is owing from 1 customer (December 31, 2020: 2 customers), each 
representing more than 10% of trade and other receivables.  
 
Cash is generally invested in cash accounts held in Canadian chartered banks, in short-term GICs 
or in-trust. Restricted cash is generally held as collateral to repay any outstanding balances related 
to the Company’s credit cards. Management believes the risk of loss associated with these assets 
to be remote. Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to financial 
instruments included in assets has been reduced to the extent presently practicable. 
 
The definition of items that are past due is determined by reference to payment terms agreed to 
with individual customers, which are normally within 0 to 90 days. Credit risk is low as receivables 
are from government bodies and participants in the cannabis industry and are received within a 
short period of time. As at December 31, 2021 the Company has $Nil of impaired receivables and 
promissory notes receivable (Promissory note receivable: December 31, 2020: $963,917). 
Management expects credit risk to be minimal. 
  

(c) Foreign exchange risk 
 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk in United States dollars. Foreign exchange risk 
is the risk that the exchange rate that was in effect on the date that an obligation in a foreign 
currency was made to the Company by a customer or lender, or that an obligation in a foreign 
currency was made by the Company to a supplier or partner, is different at the time of settlement 
than it was at the time that the obligation was determined. The Company reduces its exposure to 
foreign exchange risk by carefully monitoring exchange rates on obligations that are made to the 
Company. The Company did not have any hedges at the time that the financial statements were 
issued. The Company does not utilize financial instruments to manage its foreign exchange risk. 

 

(d) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company cannot repay its obligations when they become due to its 
creditors. The Company reduces its exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring that it documents when 
authorized payments become due; maintains an adequate working capital to repay trade creditors 
as they become due.  
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The Company has total current liabilities of $116,392,767 (December 31, 2020: $21,729,337) with 
cash on hand of $21,416,073 (December 31, 2020: $22,321,903). In the opinion of management, 
the liquidity risk exposure to the Company is moderate. The Company will manage the risk 
exposure through increased future sales, minimizing expenses by increasing efficiency and 
productivity, accessing the Revolving Credit Facility, and if necessary, raise additional capital 
through debt and/or equity. 
 

The contractual maturities of all liabilities and lease obligations by year is as follows: 
   

 
 

 
(e) Cash flow risk 

 
Cash flow risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with a monetary financial instrument will 
fluctuate in amount, such as a debt instrument held with a floating interest rate, or investments. 
Floating rate debt exposes the Company to fluctuations in cash flows and net earnings due to 
changes in market interest rates. In the opinion of management, the cash flow risk exposure to the 
Company is low. 
 

27. Capital Management 
 

The Company includes shareholders’ equity, comprised of common shares, warrants reserve, 
conversion feature, contributed surplus and accumulated deficit, in the definition of capital. The 
Company’s objectives when managing capital are as follows: 

 
(i) To safeguard the Company’s assets and ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern; and 
 

(ii) To raise sufficient capital to achieve the ongoing business objectives including funding of future 
growth opportunities and meeting its general administrative expenditures. 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on general economic 
conditions, the Company’s short-term working capital requirements, and its planned capital 
requirements and strategic growth initiatives. 
 
The Company's principal source of capital is from the issuance of common shares. In order to achieve 
its objectives, the Company expects to spend its working capital, when applicable, and raise additional 
funds as required. 

 
28. Other Income 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, out of the total other income recorded of $5,959,738 
(December 31, 2020 - $3,980,274), $3,917,278 (December 31, 2020 - $3,980,274) represents 
inventory received pertaining to a prepaid supply agreement that was previously written off and 
$987,893 represents HST receivable and the remaining balance pertains to write back of certain 
accounts payable and Commodity tax payable.  
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29. Government Grant 

 

The Company received $2,301,857 wage subsidy during the year ended December 31, 2021 
(December 31, 2020: $4,215,868) from Government of Canada pursuant to Canada Emergency Wage 
Subsidy program relating to Covid-19 Pandemic Crisis.  
 

30. Reclassification of comparative information 
 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in these consolidated financial statements, as 
described below: 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2020 
 
An amount of $485,195 was reclassified from prepaid expenses and deposits classified as current 
assets to prepaid expenses and deposits classified as non-current assets.  There was no change in 
total assets. 
 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 
 
Certain non-cash items were reclassified to changes in non-cash working capital as follows: 
 

 Depreciation and amortization was increased by $4,849,324. 
 Impairment of inventory amounting to $27,721,116 was included as non-cash item. 
 Impairment of long lived assets was reduced by $453,951. 
 Changes in non-cash working capital was reduced by $32,116,489. 

 
There was no change in cash flows from operating activities. 
 

31. Subsequent Events 
 

The Company’s management has evaluated subsequent events up to May 9, 2022, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were issued and determined the following events: 
 

 
 On March 30, 2022 the Company confirmed it has signed an additional amendment (the 

“Amendment”) to its senior secured credit facility entered into on March 29, 2019 (the “Credit 
Facility”). The Amendment modifies the terms under which Entourage secured up to $39 million 
of debt financing over a three-year term ending in 2022. Under the terms of the Amendment, 
the Company secured an extension of the maturity date of the Credit Facility from March 28, 
2022 to May 31, 2022, and a deferral of certain of its financial covenants to May 31, 2022, 
subject to certain conditions. 

 
 On April 6, 2022 the Company implemented its transformational initiative to transition all 

cultivation activities pertaining to the commercial sale of products to the Strathroy facility. 
Moving forward, the Guelph site will be fully utilized as a tissue culture centre of excellence that 
specializes in highly regarded genetics and cultivars. The invaluable expertise of the Guelph 
tissue culture, genetics and propagations team has helped the Company enhance its Strathroy 
cultivation platform for Color Cannabis, Saturday Cannabis and Starseed Medicinal. Production 
of premium flower for small-batch Royal City Cannabis Co. line will be done in Strathroy. 

 
 On April 29, 2022, the Company announced that it has amended and upsized its existing credit 

facility (the “Credit Facility”) with an affiliate of the LiUNA Pension Fund of Central and Eastern 
Canada (“LPF”), adding an additional $15 million in funding availability. The Credit Facility will 
be used by Entourage for general working capital purposes as the Company continue to 
execute a balanced approach to achieving sustainable growth by the end of 2022. 

 


